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I. INTRODUCTION 

Kevin Selkowitz simultaneously resists a non-judicial foreclosure 

by parties with whom he never contracted (this action) as well as a judicial 

foreclosure seeking a deficiency brought by yet a separate party, all 

strangers to his original loan transaction. Ultimately the factual question 

is who has authority to do what, and where is the clear and undisputed 

proof of that authority to foreclose. This record of nearly 2,700 pages 

does not provide the clear and undisputed answers necessary to affirm the 

trial court's summary judgment dismissing these parties as a matter of law. 

But it does raise many questions of fact. 

This case is no stranger to our state's appellate courts. Bain v. 

Metropolitan Mortgage, 175 Wn.2d 83, 285 P.3d 34 (2012) (hereinafter 

"Bain") answered important questions posed by the federal district court in 

favor of Selkowitz, deciding that MERS was not a lawful beneficiary 

under the Washington Deed of Trust Act (RCW 61.24, et seq.) (hereinafter 

"DT A") and representing otherwise was a potential violation of the 

Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.) (hereinafter "CPA"). 

And the factual question of lawful authority to act was highlighted 

by the fact "[a ]t oral argument, counsel for MERS was asked to identify its 

principals in the cases before us and was unable to do so." Id., 175 Wn.2d 
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at 107, n. 12. If MERS cannot identify its principal, surely this trial court 

was not in a position to do so under the summary judgment standard. 

The events at issue here took place mostly in April and May, 2010, 

years after the original note and Deed of Trust were executed and 

recorded. Respondent, LITTON LOAN SERVICING LP, a Delaware 

Limited Partnership (hereinafter "Litton"), was not a party to the original 

Deed of Trust, yet claimed authority in its Declaration of Ownership to 

initiate the foreclosure. However, it fails to establish a clear trail of title 

and authority from the original beneficiary. And Respondent, 

MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., a 

Delaware corporation (hereinafter "MERS"), could not have been the 

beneficiary entitled to appoint Respondent, QUALITY LOAN SERVICE 

CORPORATION OF WASHINGTON, a Washington Corporation 

(hereinafter "QLS"), as successor trustee on May 12. 2010, as already 

decided in Bain; which undercuts the claim of QLS that it had authority as 

a successor trustee to foreclose. Virtually every assertion in the statutorily 

required foreclosure documents is legally unsound and/or factually 

questioned. 

Reversal is the remedy. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment on 

July 24, 2014 dismissing Litton, and denying Appellant's Motion for 

Reconsideration on September 15, 2014. 

Issues 

Litton's authority to enable this foreclosure through its Declaration 

of Ownership (CP 930) is factually disputed. 

1. Are there material issues of fact that Litton's 

representations in its May 25, 2010 Declaration of Ownership that it is 

"the actual holder of the promissory note dated 10/31 /2006" is false? 

2. Are there material issues of fact that Litton's representation 

in the Declaration of Ownership that it is the "beneficiary" and 

"authorized Agent for the owner and actual holder of that certain 

promissory note ... " is not only false but self-contradictory? 

3. Are there material issues of fact that Litton's representation 

in the Declaration of Ownership that "The Note has not been assigned or 

transferred to any other person or entity" is false? 

4. Are there material issues of fact that Litton's representation 

in the Declaration of Ownership that Diane Dixon signs for Litton as 

attorney in fact for the beneficiary is false? 
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5. Is there a material issue of fact that Litton's representation 

in the Declaration of Ownership that it is the "Loan Servicer" is false? 

6. Are there material issues of fact that QLS acted as an agent 

for Litton making Litton vicariously liable under respondeat superior for 

the misconduct of QLS in the foreclosure process? 

7. Are there facts and or reasonable inferences in this record 

that Litton violated Washington's Consumer Protection Act by committing 

(1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or 

commerce; (3) affecting the public interest; and (4) causing injury to a 

person's business or property? 

8. Are there facts and or reasonable inference in the record 

that Litton slandered title to Appellant's real property through the 

wrongful recording of a Notice of Trustee's Sale? 

B. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment on 

July 24, 2014 dismissing QLS, and denying Appellant's Motion for 

Reconsideration on September 15, 2014. 

Issues 

QLS's authority to act as a successor trustee before and after its 

alleged appointment by MERS on May 12, 2010 is factually disputed. 

1. Are there material issues of fact that QLS lacked authority 

from the true beneficiary to issue the April 23, 2010 Notice of Default? 
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2. Are there material issues of fact that the Notice of Default 

prepared by QLS violated RCW 61.24.030(8) by not identifying by name 

the beneficiary? 

3. Are there material issues of fact that QLS violated its 

statutory duty of good faith to the grantor required by RCW 61.24.010(4) 

by executing through its purported attorney a Foreclosure Loss Mitigation 

Form contrary to RCW 61.24.031(9) which requires the form be executed 

by the beneficiary rather than the trustee? 

4. Are there material issues of fact that QLS was acting as the 

agent of the beneficiary in violation of its independent duty of good faith 

to the grantor as required by RCW 61.24.010(4)? 

5. Are there material issues of fact that QLS on or about 

December 27, 2010 executed, served and posted a Notice of Foreclosure 

that falsely states "[t]he attached Notice of Trustee's Sale is a 

consequence of defaults(s) in the obligation to Mortgage Electronic 

Registration Systems, Inc., the Beneficiary of your Deed of Trust, and 

owner of the obligation secured thereby" when it is established as a matter 

of law in Bain that MERS is not a beneficiary under the DT A and 

admitted in MERS' answer that it does not own the obligation? 

6. Are there material issues of fact that QLS violated RCW 

61.24.030(7)(a) by recording and serving a Notice of Trustee's Sale 
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without proof that the claimed beneficiary is the owner of the note secured 

by the Deed of Trust foreclosed upon? 

7. Are there material issues of fact that QLS violated its duty 

of good faith to the grantor required by RCW 61.24.010(4) thus barring it 

from relying on any beneficiary declaration stating it is the actual holder 

of the note in accordance with RCW 61.24.030(7)(b)? 

8. Are there facts and/or reasonable inferences in this record 

that QLS violated Washington's Consumer Protection Act by committing 

(1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or 

commerce; (3) affecting the public interest; and (4) causing injury to a 

person's business or property? 

9. Are there facts and or reasonable inference in the record 

that QLS slandered title to Appellant's real property through the wrongful 

recording of a Notice of Trustee's Sale? 

C. The trial court erred by granting summary judgment on 

July 24, 2014 dismissing MERS and denying Appellant's Motion for 

Reconsideration on September 15, 2014. 

Issues 

MERS' claimed authority to appoint QLS as a successor trustee on 

May 12, 2010 is a disputed issue of fact. 
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1. Are there material issues of fact that MERS falsely and 

without authority on May 12, 2010 purporting to be beneficiary of the 

Deed of Trust executed an Appointment of Successor Trustee, nominating 

QLS as the successor trustee? 

2. Are there facts and or reasonable inferences in this record 

that MERS violated Washington's Consumer Protection Act by 

committing (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade 

or commerce; (3) affecting the public interest; and (4) causing injury to a 

person's business or property? 

III. STATEMENTOFTHECASE 

On November 1, 2006, Appellant, KEVIN SELKOWITZ 

(hereinafter "Mr. Selkowitz") executed a Note in favor of Respondent, 

NEW CENTURY MORTGAGE CORPORATION, a California 

Corporation (hereinafter "New Century") in the amount of $309,600.00. 

CP 1105-1108; 2311-2315. See Appendix '~ ". The Note specifically 

defines the term "note holder" as the "Lender (New Century) or anyone 

who takes this Note by transfer and who is entitled to receive payments 

under this Note." 

To secure repayment of the Note, Mr. Selkowitz executed a Deed 

of Trust in which Respondent, FIRST AMERICAN TITLE INSURANCE 

COMPANY, a Washington Corporation (hereinafter "FATCO") was 
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named trustee and MERS, was named purported beneficiary as nominee 

for New Century. CP 11-35; 1110-1134. 

At no time relevant to this cause of action did Mr. Selkowitz owe 

MERS, QLS or Litton any monetary or other obligation under the terms of 

the Note or Deed of Trust. 

Respondents allege that at some point between January 1, 2007 to 

January 30, 2007, Mr. Selkowitz's loan was assigned to U.S. Bank, N.A. 

as Trustee for GSAA Home Equity Trust 2007-1, Mortgage Backed 

Certificates, Series 2007-1 (hereinafter "the Trust"). No evidence of such 

an assignment has been adduced during the course of these proceedings. 

Moreover, evidence was offered on summary judgment that the loan could 

not have been transferred to the Trust as the loan was portrayed in the 

materials provided during discovery. See CP 2171-2415. However, on 

July 11, 2014, the Trust initiated a judicial foreclosure action under King 

County Superior Court Case No. 14-2-19165-1 KNT, in which the Trust 

alleged that it was "the current holder" of the loan. CP 2420-2427. The 

allegations contained in the Trust's Complaint contradict the allegation to 

be the holder asserted on summary judgment by the Respondents herein. 

It is also important to note that at no time relevant to this cause of action 

has the Trust ever alleged to be the owner of the obligation. 
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On April 2, 2007, New Century filed for relief under Chapter 11 of 

the United States Bankruptcy Code. CP 1160-1162. On or about May 5, 

2007, all executory contracts of New Century were rejected, including 

those with MERS. CP 1162. 

On or about July 1, 2007, Litton apparently assumed responsibility 

as servicer of Mr. Selkowitz's loan, despite the fact that the identity of the 

true and lawful owner and actual holder of the obligation remained 

unidentified and no evidence of a grant of authority to Litton was ever 

adduced during these proceedings, and, assuming the Trust had some 

interest in the Note and Deed of Trust, Litton was not identified as an 

authorized servicer in the Trust's governing documents. CP 570-796; 

1136-1139 

On April 23, 2010, QLS issued a Notice of Default pursuant to 

RCW 61.24.030, as agent for "Please Consult Cover Letter, the 

Beneficiary." CP 1136-1141. See Appendix "B". Unfortunately, no 

cover letter accompanied the Notice of Default submitted with these 

materials to Mr. Selkowitz. The Notice of Default specifically identified 

Litton as the "Loan Servicer." According to the Notice of Default, "Please 

Consult Cover Letter" declared Plaintiff to be in default. Nothing in the 

Notice of Default alerted Plaintiff to the identity of the true and lawful 

owner and holder of his obligation. Significantly, the Notice of Default 
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was signed by Susan Hurley as "Trustee Sale Officer", but QLS had not 

yet been appointed successor trustee. 

On May 12, 2010, MERS, as "beneficiary" of the Deed of Trust 

executed an Appointment of Successor Trustee, nominating QLS as 

successor trustee. CP 37-38. See Appendix "C". At the time this 

Appointment of Successor Trustee was executed, MERS was neither the 

owner nor holder of the subject Note and Deed of Trust. 

On May 25, 2010, Diana Dixon, as Assistant Vice President of 

Litton Loan Servicing, LP, "the Loan Servicer/Authorized Agent for 

Beneficiary", executed a Declaration of Ownership in which she 

represents that Litton Loan Servicing LP "is the actual holder of the 

Promissory Note" and that "the Note has not been assigned or transferred 

to any other person or entity." CP 478, 930. See Appendix "D". Three 

things are evident from this document: (1) Litton is merely the loan 

servicer acting as an agent for an undisclosed principal; (2) Litton is not 

the "beneficiary", only at most the agent for the beneficiary, despite 

alleging it is the "actual holder" of the subject Note; and (3) Litton is 

apparently acting as "attorney in fact" for the undisclosed principal, but no 

power of attorney has yet been adduced to date to support this contention. 

On December 27, 2010, QLS executed, filed, served and posted a 

Notice of Trustee's Sale in connection with the Property pursuant to RCW 
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61.24.040. CP 40-42. In conjunction with the Notice of Trustee's Sale, 

QLS executed, served and posted a Notice of Foreclosure that falsely 

states that "[t]he attached Notice of Trustee's Sale is a consequence of 

defaults(s) in the obligation to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, 

Inc., the Beneficiary of your Deed of Trust, and owner of the obligation 

secured thereby." CP 936-937. (Emphasis added) It is undisputed that at 

no time did MERS ever own or hold the Note. CP 114-115. 

IV. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

On June 24, 2010, Mr. Selkowitz filed suit against the above-

named Respondents, seeking injunctive and declaratory relief, quiet title, 

relief for violation of the DT A (denominated wrongful foreclosure), libel 

and defamation of title, malicious prosecution, violation of 15 USC §1601, 

violation of the CPA and violation of 15 USC§ 1962 (FDCP A). CP 1-42. 1 

On July 27, 2010, the matter was removed to the United States 

District Court, pursuant to 28 USC §1446(a). During the course of the 

proceedings before the United States District Court, the trial judge, the 

Honorable John Coughenour, certified three questions to the Washington 

Supreme Court. These three questions were answered by the Washington 

At summary judgment, Mr. Selkowitz conceded his claims for 
malicious prosecution and quite title based on this Court's rulings in Walker v. Quality 
Loan Service Corp, et al., I 76 Wn.App.294, 308 P.3d 716 (2013) (hereinafter "Walker") 
and Bavand v. OneWest Bank, FSB, et al., 176 Wn.App 475, 309 P.3d 636 (2013). 
(hereinafter "Bavan<f'). 
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Supreme Court in the matter of Bain, which is the law of this case. 

Greene v. Rothschild, 68 Wn.2d 1, 10, 414 P.2d 1013 (1966) (quoting 

Adamson v. Traylor, 66 Wn.2d 338, 339, 402 P.2d 499 (1965)); see also 

State v. Wor/, 129 Wn.2d 416, 424, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) (Under the law of 

the case doctrine, the parties, the trial court, and the appellate court are 

bound by the ruling of the court of appeals on prior appeal until such time 

as they are authoritatively overruled.) 

On or about November 14, 2012, Judge Coughenour remanded the 

matter back to the King County Superior Court. CP 161. 

In June of 2014, Respondents each brought Motions for Summary 

Judgment against Mr. Selkowitz pursuant to CR 56. (CP 290-453; 456-

470; 797-820). 

On July 24, 2014, the trial court granted Respondents' Motions for 

Summary Judgment. CP 2517-2527. 

On August 4, 2014, Mr. Selkowitz filed a Motion for 

Reconsideration, pursuant to CR 59. CP 2528-2622. 

On September 15, 2014, the trial court denied Mr. Selkowitz's 

Motion for Reconsideration. CP 2670. 

On September 18, 2014, Mr. Selkowitz filed his Notice of Appeal 

to this Court. 2671-2687. 

12 



V. ARGUMENT 

A. Standard of Review 

A trial court's summary dismissal of claims under CR 56 is 

reviewed de novo, taking all inferences in the record in favor of the non­

moving party. State ex rel Bond v. State, 62 Wn.2d 487, 383 P.2d 288 

(1963) (hereinafter "Bond''); Lilly v. Lynch, 88 Wn.App. 306, 945 P .2d 

727 (1997) (hereinafter "Lilly"); Snohomish County v. Rugg, 115 Wn.App. 

218, 61 P .3d 1184 (2002) (hereinafter "Rugg"); Schroeder v. Excelsior 

Management Group, LLC, 117 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) 

(hereinafter "Schroeder") (citing Dreiling v. Jain, 151 Wn.2d 900, 908, 93 

P.3d 861 (2004)); Bavand, at page 485 and Lyons v. U.S. Bank, 181 

Wn.2d. 775, 783, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (hereinafter "Lyons"). Summary 

judgment is only appropriate if there is no genuine issue of material fact 

and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Balise v. 

Underwood, 62 Wn.2d 195, 381 P2d 966 (1963) (hereinafter "Balise"); 

Schroeder; Bavand, at page 485 and Lyons, at page 783. The initial 

burden on summary judgment falls on the moving party to prove that no 

material issue is genuinely in dispute. CR 56. 

Summary judgment is appropriate if reasonable persons can reach 

but one conclusion from all of the evidence, viewed in a light most 

favorable to the non-moving party. Rugg; Doherty v. Municipality of 
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Metro, 83 Wn.App. 464, 921 P.2d 1098 (1996). In reviewing the evidence 

submitted on summary judgment, facts asserted by the non-moving party 

and supported by affidavits or other appropriate evidentiary materials must 

be taken as true. Bond; Reid v. Pierce Co., 136 Wn.2d 195, 961 P.2d 333 

(1998). When there is contradictory evidence or the moving parties' 

evidence is impeached, an issue of credibility is presented that the court 

cannot resolve on summary judgment. Balise. 

Based upon the foregoing and the testamentary and documentary 

evidence that was offered to the trial court on summary judgment, 

particularly the Declaration of Sierra Herbert-West (CP 471-482); the 

Declaration of Barbara Campbell (CP 568-796); the Declaration of Mr. 

Selkowitz (CP 1090-1150); the Declaration of Tim Stephenson (CP 1151-

1517); the deposition transcript of Brian Blake (CP 1523-1594); the 

deposition transcript of Kevin Flannigan (CP 1595-1769); the deposition 

transcript of Sierra Herbert-West (CP 1770-1884); the deposition 

transcript of Kevin Selkowitz (CP 2050-2126); the Declaration of Jay 

Patterson (2171-2415); and Plaintiffs Request for Judicial Notice (CP 

2416-2427), there were genuine issues of material fact before the trial 

court inconsistent with any summary dismissal of Mr. Selkowitz's claims. 
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B. Strict Compliance with DTA Required. 

The Washington Supreme Court has often stated that the DTA 

must be strictly construed in the borrower's favor. Albice v. Premier 

Mortgages Services of Washington, Inc., 174 Wn.2d 560, 567, 276 P.3d 

1277 (2012) (hereinafter "Albice") (citing Udall v. T.D. Escrow Services, 

Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 915-916, 154 P.3d 882 (2007) (hereinafter 

"Udalf')). Substantial compliance with the statutory provisions of the 

DTA is not enough. 

C. Actual "Beneficiary" Entitled to Initiate Foreclosure is 
a Disputed Question of Fact. 

Under the DTA, only the duly authorized "beneficiary" has the 

right to declare a default, under RCW 61.24.030, or appoint a successor 

trustee, under RCW 61.24.010. See RCW 61.24.005(2). However in this 

case there are competing and mutually exclusive claims of beneficial 

ownership in the Note and Deed of Trust and status as holder in this matter 

that must preclude summary judgment. 

In reviewing the documentation before the trial court on summary 

judgment, the only direct evidence of the chain of ownership of the 

obligation is the original Note (CP 1105-1108), apparently endorsed in 
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blank.2 There the chain of title to the Note ends. See generally the 

testimony of Jay Patterson. CP 2171-2415. 

QLS alleges that this non-judicial foreclosure was initiated by 

Litton and that "Litton represented that [it] was the beneficiary under the 

Note authorized to foreclose on the Property." CP 472. Indeed, Litton 

purportedly prepared and presented to QLS a Declaration of Ownership 

that "Litton Loan Servicing LP is the actual holder of the Promissory 

Note"3 and that the "Note has not been assigned or transferred to any other 

person or entity." CP 478. But these representations are contradicted by 

Litton's own witness, Kevin Flannigan, who testifies that: ( 1) "after 

2 Respondents offered various versions of the Note, some endorsed, 
some not. The attorney for QLS offered an endorsed copy of the Note (CP 491-495), but 
her witness, Sierra West, did not and QLS apparently did not rely on a copy of the 
endorsed Note to initiate foreclosure proceedings. CP 471-482. MERS offered no 
version of the Note on summary judgment. Litton's counsel testified that his offices had 
possessed the Note from January 3, 2014 to June 26, 2014, but did not offer a copy of the 
Note in his firm's possession. (CP 532-567). The Trust's Custodian, Deutsche Bank, 
offered the testimony of Barbara Campbell, who possessed the Note November 7, 2006 
to August 6, 2013, when the Note was transferred to Ocwen Loan Servicing, but does not 
provide a copy of the Note, endorsed or otherwise. (CP 568-796). The representative of 
Litton and Ocwen, Kevin Flannigan, offers of copy of the Note (CP 825-829), duly 
endorsed, but his testimony in unverifiable, unreliable and inadmissible as rank hearsay. 
See RCW 5.45.020; CR 56(e); ER 803; State v. Smith, 16 Wn.App. 425, 558 P.2d 265 
(1976) and State v Kane, 23 Wn.App. 107, 594 P.2d 1357 (1979). It should also be noted 
that there is doubt that the endorsement on the copy of the Note offered by Mr. Flannigan 
was made prior to August 8, 2008, when Mr. Nagy's authorization expired or was ever 
properly affixed to the Note. See testimony of Tim Stevenson (CP 1163-1165) and Jay 
Patterson (CP 2193). See Appendix "A". Even Mr. Flannigan couldn't confirm that Mr. 
Nagy's endorsement was properly affixed to the Note after inspecting it. CP 1608 (Page 
52, line 13 to Page 53, line 6). 

3 Contrary to the title of the document, Litton has never alleged that it 
was the true and lawful owner of the obligation nor is there any factual basis for Litton to 
do so as it appears to have only acquired the "servicing rights" to the Note. CP 823. 
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origination of the Loan, it was securitized and transferred to GSAA Home 

Equity Trust 2007-1"; and (2) Litton and Ocwen were mere servicers of 

the loan. CP 822-823. See also testimony of Jay Patterson. CP 2192. At 

no point does Litton represent that it is the true owner and actual holder of 

the Note and Deed of Trust or reveal the source of its authority for 

executing the Declaration of Ownership that was relied upon by QLS to 

initiate foreclosure proceedings. No assignment of the obligation or duly 

executed power of attorney was presented on summary judgment to 

support the actions taken by Litton against Mr. Selkowitz. Indeed, Litton 

was specifically forbidden to "hold" the Note under the terms of the 

Trust's Master Servicing and Trust Agreement (hereinafter "PSA"), 

assuming there is any basis for the Trust's involvement whatsoever. See 

CP 570-796; 1177-1178. 

QLS alleges that it relied on Litton's declaration of Mr. 

Selkowitz's default. CP 472. However, QLS had no procedures in place 

to verify that information and apparently was ignorant to the involvement 

of the Trust. CP 1778-1779; 1790; 1803. See CP 1770-1872 (Herbert­

West deposition, page 34, linel-16, page 39, lines 2-17, 22-25, page 40, 

lines 1-25, page 41, linesl-25, page 42, lines 1-21, page 60, lines4-25, 

page 62, lines 9-25, page 63, lines 1-25, page 64, lines 1-21, page 66, lines 

1-19, page 74, lines 3-14, page 75, lines 1-24, page 77, lines 11-22, page 
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82, lines 9-17, page 83, lines5-25, page 84, lines 1-25, page 85, lines 1-5, 

page 85, lines15-25, page 86, linesl-2, page 92, lines24-25, page 93, liens 

1-2, page 99, lines12-19, page 102, lines 2-7, page 113, lines 16-25, page 

114,lines 14, page 115, lines 22-25, page 116, lines 1-7, page 123, linesl-

20, page 147, lines 12-18, page 149, linesl 7-20,. page 34, lines 1-25, page 

73, lines 18-25, page 74, lines 1-14, page 92, lines 24-25, page 93, lines 1-

2, page 99, lines 6-10, page 123, lines 1-20, page 131, lines14-20, page 

147, lines 12-18). Although Litton apparently believed that the Trust was 

the owner of the obligation when this action was initiated and that it was 

acting in the role of the servicer, no evidence before the trial court 

indicated that the Trust or the true owner and actual holder of the 

obligation ever declared Mr. Selkowitz to be in default.4 

MERS also claimed to be the "beneficiary" of the obligation on 

May 12, 2010, when it appointed QLS Successor Trustee. CP 37-38; 475-

476. However, it was undisputed that MERS never owned or held the 

Note and Deed of Trust and could never have been an eligible beneficiary 

to so act. See Bain; CP 114-115. See also the testimony of Jay Patterson. 

CP 2187-2191. If MERS did not own or hold the subject obligation and 

4 Despite Litton's assertions that there exists an agency relationship 
between it and the Trust, issues of material fact were presented to the trial court to 
dispute the existence of such a relationship as Litton is not specifically identified as a 
servicer or is otherwise authorized to so act under the PSA. CP 570-796. See also the 
testimony of Tim Stephenson. CP 1177-1178. 
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was not an eligible beneficiary, it had no independent authority to appoint 

a successor trustee under RCW 61.24.010(2). MERS purports to act as 

"nominee for New Century Mortgage Corporation'', but any authority that 

may have existed for MERS to act on behalf of New Century was 

extinguished when all executory contacts were rejected by the bankruptcy 

court on or about March 19, 2008. See In re: New Century TRS Holdings, 

Inc, et al., Case No. 07-10416 (KJC), Notice of Rejection of Executory 

Contract, based on Court Order Docket #388 

http://www.scribd.com/doc/59828999/New-Century-Notice-of-Rejection­

of-Exec-Con-MERS). CP 1162. All of MERS' authority as nominee of 

New Century, if not exercised prior to March 19, 2008, ceased to exist 

after that date as a matter of law and its Appointment of Successor Trustee 

executed by MERS, dated and notarized on May 12, 2010, is invalid 

because any contractual relationship between MERS and New Century 

had been voided and rescinded by New Century's Rejection of Executory 

Contracts. 11 US.C. §§365(d) (1), 365(g) and §502(g). 

Moreover, no credible evidence was offered on summary judgment 

to establish an agency relationship between MERS and the true and lawful 

owner and actual holder of the obligation, whoever that may be, nor was 

there any evidence of authority for MERS' execution of the Appointment 

of Successor Trustee. On this issue, nothing has changed since this case 
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was before the Washington Supreme Court. See Bain, at pages 106-107. 

It is Mr. Selkowitz's position that all action taken by QLS in reliance on 

the Appointment of Successor Trustee was unlawful and wrongful. 

Comically, in its Notice of Default, QLS represents that the 

"current owner/beneficiary of the Note secured by the Deed of Trust is: 

Please Consult Cover Letter." CP 1136-1139. No cover letter was ever 

furnished by QLS with the Notice of Default. CP 1094-1095. Therefore, 

the identity of "Please Consult Cover Letter" remains a mystery. 

Based on the foregoing, none of the Respondents named herein can 

establish their bona fides as owner and actual holder of the obligation. 

RCW 61.24.005(2). 

Although not a party to this action, Respondents suggest that the 

Trust was the true owner or "investor" of the obligation at the time the 

non-judicial foreclosure was initiated. CP 800; CP 1538 (Blake 

deposition, page 60, line 24 to page 61, line 13). The mere allegation of 

the Trust's ownership by the Trust repudiates Respondents' claims to be 

holders and beneficiaries of the Note and Deed of Trust, upon which the 

trial court relied in granting summary judgment. But, there was no clear 

evidence before the trial court on summary judgment to establish this fact. 

Indeed, there was testimony that raised considerable doubt that the subject 

obligation was ever properly assigned and transferred to the Trust. 
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According to the PSA, all loans had to be assigned to the Trust between 

January 1, 2007 and January 31, 2007. See CP 600; 602 and testimony of 

Tim Stephenson. CP 1170. According to the PSA, the Note was 

specifically required to be endorsed by New Century (Originator) to 

Goldman Sachs Mortgage Co. (Sponsor); from Goldman Sachs Mortgage 

Co. (Sponser) to GS Mortgage Securities Corp (Depositor); and endorsed 

by GS Mortgage Securities Corp (Depositor) in blank to be transferred to 

the Custodian, Deutsche Bank. See CP 623-628; see also testimony of Jay 

Patterson (CP 2181-2187) and testimony of Tim Stephenson (CP 1170-

1178). These endorsements were required to be affixed to the Note prior 

to the Trust closing date of January 31, 2007. CP 624-626. Here, the only 

endorsement that shows up on any version of the Note is the endorsement 

of New Century, in blank. See Appendix "A". Missing are the 

endorsements of the Sponsor and Depositor. Absent these endorsements, 

there is substantial and material doubt that the Note was ever properly 

assigned and transferred to the Trust. See testimony of Tim Stevenson 

(CP 1177-1180) and Jay Patterson (CP 2201-2203). Absent proper 

endorsement, the subject Note and Deed of Trust could never have been 

accepted by the Trust and the Trust could not be a true and lawful owner 

and actual holder of the obligation and authorized to declare the obligation 
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to be in default or authorized to appoint a successor trustee. RCW 

61.24.010 and RCW 61.24.030(8)(c). 

Based on the foregoing and the evidence before the trial court on 

summary judgment, neither the named Respondents nor the Trust 

established themselves to be owners or actual holders of the Note and 

Deed of Trust to affect a non-judicial foreclosure against Mr. Selkowitz. 

Without establishing the ultimate source of authority to act under the 

DTA, none of the Respondents named herein acted with authority or 

lawfully and the trial court's findings otherwise must be reversed. 

D. Terms of Note Define "Note Holder". 

The identity of the "actual holder" of the obligation for purposes of 

the DT A could be simplified by looking to the terms in the Selkowitz 

Note, which contains a specific definition of note holder: the "Note 

Holder" is defined as the party "entitled to receive payments under [the] 

Note," a definition that corresponds nicely with the provisions of RCW 

61.24.030(8)(c) that limits the right to declare the note in default to the 

"beneficiary". CP 1039. The subject Note does not contain the term "loan 

servicer" or "loan servicing." Mr. Selkowitz did not contract for an 

alternative basis by which someone who did not take the Note for value 

and was not entitled to the stream of payments could declare a default, 

appoint a successor trustee or otherwise affect his rights as a borrower. 
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Thus, for Respondents to suggest, as they did on summary judgment, that 

the fundamental indicia of ownership of a note, the right to enforce and to 

"hold" can be separated, is simple erroneous. 

Since the "Note Holder" is specifically defined within the parties' 

contract (the Note), the trial court did not need to analyze any other body 

oflaw, including the DTA or the UCC for the definition of"Note Holder." 

Hawk v. Branjes, 97 Wn. App. 776, 780, 986 P.2d 841 (1999) Walji v. 

Candyco, Inc., 57 Wn. App. 284, 288, 787 P .2d 946 (1990); Mut. Of 

Enumclaw Ins. Co. v. USF Ins. Co., 164 Wn.2d 411, 425, 191 P.3d 866 

(2008); Vadheim v. Cont'/ Ins. Co., 107 Wn.2d 836, 734 P.2d 17 (1987). 

Although Litton's attorney alleges to have had physical custody of the 

Note (CP 533), there was no evidence before the trial court to establish 

that any named Respondent was ever "entitled to receive payments" under 

the Note in their own right. 

E. Agents of the owner are not "holders". 

Whoever it turns out actually owns the subject obligation, it is 

clearly not any of the named Respondents, who are at most acting as 

agents for an undisclosed principal: the true and lawful owner and actual 

holder of the Note and Deed of Trust. See CP 823. Certainly, 

Respondents offered the trial court on summary judgment no more 

information regarding ownership of Mr. Selkowitz's Note than they 
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offered the Washington Supreme Court during oral argument in Bain. 

Bain, at 175 Wn.2d at 107, n. 12. 

If Respondents are mere agents of an undisclosed principal, mere 

physical possession of the Selkowitz Note does not provide them authority 

under the DT A to initiate and prosecute a non-judicial foreclosure against 

Mr. Selkowitz. Under Washington law, a party who accepts a secured 

instrument as an agent for the owner of the instrument cannot qualify as a 

holder. Central Washington Bank v. Mendelson-Zeller, 113 Wn.2d 346, 

358, 779 P.2d 697 (1989) (hereinafter "Central Washington Ban'/('). 

F. Custody is not legal possession of the obligation. 

While Litton, through its attorneys of record, may have temporary 

physical custody of the Note, there is no evidence that Litton ever 

obtained "legal possession" of the obligation. See 18 William B. Stoebuck 

& John W. Weaver, Washington Practice: Real Estate Transactions § 

18.31 at 365 (2d ed. 2004) (discussing mortgage notes and the role ofloan 

servicers as collection agents, emphasizing that the owner of the mortgage 

note, and not the servicer, is "the mortgage holder"). Certainly there was 

no credible evidence of transfer of the obligation by New Century before 

the trial court on summary judgment - only Litton is self-serving and 

apparently unauthorized Declaration of Ownership. CP 478. Moreover, 

equating temporary physical custody of a note with legal possession does 
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not make commercial sense because should physical possession equate to 

legal possession, anyone who touches the note for any purpose, including 

the lawyer holding it for the temporary purpose of litigation, or the carrier 

who transports it from one place to another, or the custodian who 

maintains the note and deed of trust for safekeeping, can arguably initiate 

non-judicial foreclosure. 

Respondents argue that if they didn't have actual custody of the 

Note, they had "constructive possession of the Note via DBNTC" at the 

time these foreclosure proceedings were initiated by Litton. CP 800. As a 

matter of fact, Respondents' claim is incorrect because DBNTC was 

acting as agent for the Trust- not Litton- until August 6, 2013, two years 

after the Declaration of Ownership was executed by Litton. CP 569. 

Moreover, Respondents claim of constructive possession through 

DBNTC presumes the Note was lawfully transferred to the Trust for 

DBNTC to take "custody" of, for which there was inadequate and 

contradictory evidence. 

Finally, notwithstanding Gleeson v. Lichty, 62 Wash 656, 114 Pac. 

518 ( 1911 ), there is no basis in Washington law for one to have 

"constructive possession" of a Note under the DT A. For purposes of the 

DTA one must have "actual possession." RCW 61.24.030(7)(a); See Bain 

at page 104 ("The plaintiffs argue that our interpretation of the deed of 
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trust act should be guided by theses UCC definitions, and thus a 

beneficiary must either actually possess the promissory note or be the 

payee. E.g., Selkowitz Opening Brief. at 14. We agree.") So, constructive 

possession is simply not enough. 

However, the Bain court went even further and specifically held 

that "if the original lender (New Century) had sold the loan, the purchaser 

(the Trust in this case) would need to establish ownership of that loan, 

either by demonstrating that it actually held the promissory note or by 

documenting the chain of transactions." Bain at 111. The Bain court's 

emphasis was on the ownership of the obligation and saw the right to hold 

the note as an incident of ownership. Lyons affirmed this view. However, 

no such "chain of transactions" was offered to the trial court by 

Respondents on summary judgment. Indeed, as argued above, the 

required endorsements pursuant to the PSA were missing. 

Clearly, on this record the trial court did not and could not, without 

ignoring disputed facts, distinguish between Litton's physical custody of 

the subject Note and legal possession of the Note, with right to foreclose, 

declare a default and appoint a successor trustee under the DT A. The trial 

court erred and this matter should be remanded. 
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G. The beneficiary must be both the actual holder and the 
owner of the Note to foreclose. 

This issue runs deeper. Under Washington law, it is not enough 

for the "beneficiary" to be merely a "holder" of the obligation secured by 

a deed of trust. The "beneficiary" must also be the "actual holder" and 

"owner" of the promissory note. This contention is not only based on 

Bain, Walker, Bavand, and Lyons, but is supported by a plain reading of 

various sections of the DTA, including RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), RCW 

61.24.030(8)(1) and RCW 61.24.040(2). These are "requisites" of the 

statute and cannot be waived. Albice, at page 568 (citing Udall, at 915-

916); Schroeder, Klem and Lyons. There is no reasonable way to read 

Bain and the statutory provision cited above in any other manner except to 

conclude that being the holder is a necessary, but not a sufficient condition 

to conduct a non-judicial foreclosure: the "holder" must also be the 

"owner" of the obligation. This is particularly so once the sale is 

challenged and supports the competing interests of the Act as stated in Cox 

v. Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383, 387, 693 P.2d 683 (1985): to ensure that the 

non-judicial foreclosure process should remain efficient and inexpensive, 

should provide an adequate opportunity for interested parties to prevent 

wrongful foreclosures, and should promote the stability of land titles. 

In sum, there were material issues of fact in dispute on the record 
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that was before the trial court on summary judgment regarding Litton's 

status as a "holder" of the Note and "beneficiary" of the Deed of Trust 

with authority to foreclose. Indeed, there was no evidence before the trial 

court on summary judgment that the purported owner, the Trust, either 

knew or approved of Litton's and QLS' foreclosure activities. Certainly, 

there was no evidence before the trial court the QLS ever investigated or 

verified Litton's authority to initiate a non-judicial foreclosure. CP 1778-

1779 (Herbert-West deposition, page 33, line 1 to page34, line 16). See 

Lyons. 

However, on summary judgment, Respondents argued that 

"ownership" was irrelevant, drawing the trial court's attention to Trujillo v. 

Northwest Trustee Services Inc., et al.,181 Wn.App. 484, 326 P.3d 768 

(2014) (hereinafter "Trujillo") (petition for review pending and deferred to 

March 31, 2015). But, as to the issue concerning the trustee's fiduciary 

duty of good faith regarding compliance with the provisions of RCW 

61.24.030(7)(a), Trujillo has largely been made irrelevant by the Supreme 

Court's ruling in Lyons. 

At most, application of Trujillo to this case should be limited, if 

relied upon at all. In order to arrive at its conclusion that the trustee did 

not violate its duty of good faith, the Trujillo court suggested that the first 

sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) should be ignored in its entirety: "the 
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required proof is that the beneficiary must be the holder of the note. It 

need not show that it is the owner of the note." Trujillo, at page 776. In 

apparent disregard of long standing rules of statutory construction, the 

Trujillo court justified its holding by noting that the first sentence of RCW 

61.24.030(7)(a) was a "legislative error" and should be disregarded in its 

entirety: "[b ]etter still, the legislature could have eliminated any reference 

to 'owner' of the note in the provision because it is the 'holder' of the note 

who is entitled to enforce it, regardless of ownership." Trujillo, at page 

776. While writing the first sentence of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) out of the 

statute, the Trujillo court failed entirely to address the provisions of RCW 

61.24.030(8)(/) and RCW 61.24.040(2), which now conflict with the re­

written provisions of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). This sort of judicial 

legislation and re-write of statutes adopted by the legislature invites this 

Court to limit the application of Trujillo. See State v. J.P., 149 Wn.2d 

444, 450, 69 P .3d 318 (2003) ("Statutes must be interpreted and construed 

so that all the language used is given effect, with no portion rendered 

meaningless or superfluous") (citing Davis v. Dept. of Licensing, 137 

Wn.2d 957, 963, 977 P.2d 554 (1999) and Whatcom Co. v. City of 

Bellingham, 128 Wn.2d 537, 909 P.2d 1303 (1996)) and G-P Gypsum 

Corp. v. Dep 't of Revenue, 169 Wn.2d 304, 310-311, 237 P.3d 256 (2012). 

Following the Supreme Court's mandate set out in State v. J.P., 
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supra, the plain reading of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) requires that the two 

provisions be harmonized and read together, where the conclusion is 

certain: where A [Owner] = B [Beneficiary] and B [Beneficiary] = C 

[Actual Holder]; A [Owner] should equal C [Actual Holder]. This is 

incontrovertible logic. 

It follows that only the owner and actual holder of the obligation 

can be the "beneficiary" entitled to declare a default and appoint a 

successor trustee under RCW 61.24.030(8)(c) and RCW 61.24.010. 

However, there was no credible evidence the true and lawful owner and 

actual holder of the Mr. Selkowitz's loan ever took these actions. 

H. No Evidence of a Default 

Only the true and lawful owner and holder of the obligation had 

the right and authority to declare Plaintiff to be in default. RCW 

61.24.030(8)(c) ("A statement that the beneficiary has declared the 

borrower or grantor to be in default, and a concise statement of the default 

alleged;"). By beneficiary, as argued above, the statute refers to the 

"owner" of the obligation. See RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) (" ... the trustee 

shall have proof that the beneficiary is the owner of any promissory note 

or other obligation secured by the deed of trust."). See Bain and Lyons. 

Based on the evidence produced on summary judgment, no true 

and lawful owner and actual holder of the Note and Deed of Trust ever 
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declared Mr. Selkowitz to be in default. Litton claimed on summary 

judgment that Mr. Selkowitz "admitted he defaulted on the Loan" during 

his deposition. CP 800. However, this misstates Mr. Selkowitz's 

deposition testimony. CP 2060-2069. In none of the excerpts cited by 

Litton on summary judgment does Mr. Selkowitz ever mention or use the 

word "default". CP 2060-2069. 

Here, there is absolutely no evidence that the Trust ever declared 

Mr. Selkowitz to be in default. CP 1612 (Flannigan deposition, page 68, 

lines 5-10.). Indeed, the only party to declare such a default was Litton, 

the servicer. CP 472. No provision in the DTA permits a servicer to issue 

a declaration of default. Only the beneficiary can issue such a declaration. 

RCW 61.24.030(8)(c). Absent a lawful declaration of default by the true 

and lawful owner and actual holder of the obligation, there was no legal 

basis for Litton or QLS to initiate a non-judicial foreclosure against Mr. 

Selkowitz. 

I. QLS' violation of its duty of good faith. 

Although Mr. Selkiowitz has identified several violations of the 

DTA above, the most significant is QLS' violation of its fiduciary duty of 

good faith under RCW 61.24.010. Klem, at page 790. 

Under current Washington law, private trustees, such as QLS, are 

obligated by common law and equity to be evenhanded to both sides and 
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to strictly follow the provisions of the DTA. See Cox; Albice, at page 934; 

Lyons, at page 787. This is a fiduciary duty. Klem at page 790 ("An 

independent trustee who owes a duty to act in good faith to exercise a 

fiduciary duty to act impartially to fairly respect the interest of both the 

lender and debtor is a minimum to satisfy the statute, the constitution and 

. ") equity... . 

Notwithstanding serious doubts that any named Respondent had 

standing as a true and lawful owner or actual holder of the subject 

obligation to initiate a non-judicial foreclosure against Mr. Selkowitz and 

the lawfulness of MERS' appointment of QLS as successor trustee, QLS 

engaged in an unethical process of unreasonably relying upon documents, 

without verification or inquiry, it knew or should have known to be false 

and misleading. Lyons. QLS made no inquiry to verify the information it 

received from Litton to initiate a foreclosure, relying exclusively on 

Litton's assertion of a default. See CP 1770-1872 (Herbert-West 

deposition cited at length above.). 

By failing to verify any of the records it was provided by Litton to 

initiate a non-judicial foreclosure; relying on an Appointment of Successor 

Trustee that had not yet been issued and, even then, executed by an 

ineligible beneficiary without verifying MERS' authority (CP 475-476); 

relying on a Declaration of Ownership that failed to identify the true and 
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lawful owner of the obligation (CP 478), arguably executed by an entity 

that was not, in fact, the beneficiary, but an "authorized agent for the 

Beneficiary'', and otherwise failed to comport with RCW 61.24.030(7)(a;5 

(CP 478); and otherwise failing to verify the ownership of the obligation 

and representations of Litton, QLS breached its fiduciary duty of good 

faith by attempting to prosecute a non-judicial foreclosure on 

Respondents' behalf without strictly complying with all requisites of sale. 

As noted by the Washington Supreme Court in Lyons, at page 787: 

A foreclosing trustee must "adequately inform" itself regarding the 
purported beneficiary's right to foreclose, including, at a minimum, a 
"cursory investigation" to adhere to its duty of good faith. Walker, 
176 Wn.App. at 309-10. A trustee does not need to summarily accept 
a borrower's side of the story or instantly submit to a borrower's 
demands. But a trustee must treat both sides equally and investigate 
possible issues using its independent judgment to adhere to its duty of 
good faith. See eg., Cox v Helenius, 103 Wn.2d 383, 388, 693 P.2d 
683 (1985). A trustee's failure to act impartially between note 
holders and mortgagees, in violation of the DT A, can support a claim 
for damages under the CPA. Klem, 176 Wn.2d at 792. 

Specifically, under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) a trustee must ensure that 

the beneficiary is the owner and holder of any promissory note or other 

obligation secured by the deed of trust before a notice of trustee's sale is 

recorded, transmitted, or served. RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), RCW 

61.24.030(8)(1) and RCW 61.24.040(2). Lyons, page 786, 789. Despite 

5 See Lyons, at page 791 (beneficiary declarations that ambiguously represent 
the signer to be the holder, a non-holder in possession or a person not in possession does 
not comply with RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) and creates a material issue of fact). 

33 



Trujillo, a trustee's violation of obtaining proof of ownership violates the 

trustee's fiduciary duty of good faith and remains a viable basis of trustee 

liability under the CPA. See Lyons, at pages 786-789: 

The allegedly improper acts of NWTS are intertwined but can be 
generally categorized as violations of two DT A statutes - violation of 
the duty of good faith under RCW 61.24.010(4) and noncompliance 
with RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), which instructs that a trustee must have 
proof the beneficiary is the owner prior to initiating a trustee's sale ... 

*** 
... .If Lyons' alleged violations are true, NWTS' actions would likely 
be considered unfair acts .... 

*** 
... If Lyons' allegations are true and NWTS knew about the 
conflicting information regarding their right to initiate foreclosure but 
did not look into this matter, there are issues regarding whether this 
indicates deferral to Wells Fargo and therefore lack of impartiality. 
These issues of fact regarding NWTS' actions must be resolved 
before a court can determine if they have violated the duty of good 
faith. Considering the evidence in the light most favorable to Lyons, 
this claim (proof of ownership and status as beneficiary) should have 
survived summary judgment. 

*** 
... Lyons claims NWTS did not have proper proof that Wells Fargo 
was the owner of the note and could not direct NWTS to foreclose. 
Thus, Lyons alleges that NWTS violated RCW 61.24.030(7)(a), 
which requires that "before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, 
transmitted, or served, the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary 
is the owner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the 
deed of trust." The trial court determined there were no issues of 
material fact and granted summary judgment. We disagree .... 6 

With regard to QLS' compliance with its duty to investigate and 

6 It is significant to note that in its discussion of Ms. Lyons' claims regarding 
NWTS' violation of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) - specifically, the claim that NWTS failed to 
obtain proof of ownership of the obligation prior to issuance of a notice of trustee's sale -
the Lyons court unanimously ignored the ruling in Trujillo. 
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verify, it is important to reiterate that during this period of time, QLS had 

no procedures in place to verify any of the information it received from its 

"clients'', such as Litton. See CP 1770-1872 (Herbert-West deposition, 

cited at length above). Clearly, QLS blindly accepted whatever 

information was provided by its "clients" and failed to engage in the sort 

of investigation necessary to verify the information QLS relied upon to 

initiate non-judicial foreclosures and its duties of good faith described in 

Lyons. QLS' failure to comply with its fiduciary duties of good faith and 

the disputed issues of fact associated therewith were completely ignored 

by the trial court. 

Litton called the shots and assumed the authority to start and stop 

the foreclosure efforts. CP 1808-1810, (Herbert-West deposition, page 

153, line 20-25, pages 157-161). This was authority not shared with Mr. 

Selkowitz. As the party in control of the process, Litton should be as 

liable for the violations of the DTA as QLS by application of the doctrine 

respondeat superior. See Bain, Walker and Klem. See also Nelson v. 

Elmview Group Home, 131 Wn.2d 39, 929 P.2d 420 (1958). Moreover, 

Litton and QLS should be held jointly responsible for Mr. Selkowitz's 

claims under theories of civil conspiracy and joint venture liability 

subsumed in his claim of joint and several liabilities based upon these 

facts. See Gilbrook v. City of Westminster,_ 117 F.3d 839, 856 (9th Cir. 
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1999), Sterling Business Forms, Inc. v. Thorpe, 82 Wn.App. 446, 918 P.2d 

531 (1996), Refrigeration Engineering Co. v. McKay, 4 Wn.App. 963, 486 

P.2d 304, 311 (1971) and Knisely v. Burke Concrete Accessories, Inc., 2 

Wn.App. 533, 468 P.2d 717, 720-21 (1970). The undisputed fact is that 

Litton referred this matter to QLS for foreclosure and controlled the 

process to the extent that it could start and stop the process and if that 

referral was wrongful and Litton failed to stop the process, Litton shares in 

the responsibility of that misconduct along with QLS. 

J. Violation of CPA. 

While damages for pre-sale violations of the DT A are not 

recoverable, a CPA claim may be maintained regardless of the status of the 

property. Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Services, Inc., 181 Wn.2d 412, 417, 

334 P.3d 529 (2014) (hereinafter "Frias"), Lyons, at page 784. 

The elements of a claim under the CPA include the following: (1) 

an unfair or deceptive act or practice, (2) occurring in trade or commerce, 

(3) affecting the public interest, (4) injury to a person's business or 

property, and (5) causation. Hangman Ridge Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title 

Ins. Co., 105 Wn.2d 778, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). The CPA should be 

"liberally construed that its beneficial purposes may be served." RCW 

19.86.920; Short v. Demopolis, 103 Wn.2d 52, 691 P.2d 163 (1984). 
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The Bain court specifically held that a homeowner might have a 

CPA claim against MERS if MERS acts as an ineligible beneficiary. Bain 

at pages 115-120. 

In Lyons, the court held that when a CPA claim is predicated on an 

alleged violation of the DTA, a question of fact is created if the issue is 

disputed. Lyons, at pages 786-787. Here, Respondents' violations of the 

DTA were hotly contested, but ignored by the trial court. 

The Bain court specifically ruled that the unfair and deceptive act 

or practice element can be presumed based upon MERS' business model 

and the manner in which it has been used.7 Bain at pages 115-117; Klem, 

at pages 784-788. See also Walker, at pages 318-319 and Bavand, at pages 

504-506. Indeed, the improper appointment of QLS by MERS (CP 475-

476); the clearly false and improper Declaration of Ownership (CP 478); 

and issuance of a Notice of Default that falsely and improperly identifies 

the owner and beneficiary (CP 1136-1141 ), among other violations of the 

DT A alleged herein, constitute unfair and deceptive acts or practices. 

Walker, at pages 319-320, and Bavand, at page 505. Moreover, the Lyons 

court held that a trustee's failure to act impartially, in violation of its 

7 This is in accord with other case law in Washington. An unfair or deceptive 
act can include misrepresentations of facts related to the legal status of a debt. Panag v. 
Farmers Ins. Co. Of Washington, 166 Wn.2d 27, 204 P.3d 885 (2009) (deceptive 
methods used by a collection agency to recover money on behalf of an insurance 
company). See also Klem. 
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fiduciary duty of good faith under RCW 61.24.010(4) as QLS did here, is 

actionable under the CPA as an unfair and deceptive act or practice. 

Lyons, at page 788-789. 

The Bain court specifically ruled that the public interest impact 

element can also be presumed based on the number of mortgages that 

utilized MERS as a nominee for an undisclosed principal. Bain, at page 

118; Bavand, at pages 506-507. 

Although the Bain court did not specifically address the trade or 

commerce element, that could also be presumed from the court's analysis 

of the public interest element. See Walker, at page 318. All of the named 

Respondents are in the business of making or servicing loans for hundreds, 

if not thousands, of businesses and residents in the State of Washington. 

See Bain, at page 118. 

In sum, the only elements that cannot be presumed in a typical 

MERS case on summary judgment are the fourth and fifth elements: the 

elements of damages/injury and causation. Thus, on summary judgment, 

Mr. Selkowitz needed only to allege facts regarding the fourth and fifth 

elements of a CPA claim by asserting his claims of injury/damages and 

causation. 

As to the damages/injury and causation elements of a CPA claim, 

the analysis set forth in Panag v. Farmers Insurance Co., 166 Wn.2d 27, 
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204 P .3d 885 (2009) (hereinafter "Panag") is the most useful to the present 

case, because it also involved improper efforts to collect on a debt. There 

the Washington Supreme Court held that: 

Monetary damages need not be proved; unquantifiable damages may 
suffice. Id. (loss of goodwill); NW. Airlines, Inc. v. Ticket Exch., Inc., 
(proof of injury satisfied by "stowaway theory" where damages are 
otherwise unquantifiable in case involving deceptive brokerage of 
frequent flier miles); Fisons, (damage to professional reputation); 
Sorrel v. Eagle Healthcare, Inc., (injury by delay in refund of money); 
Webb v. Ray, (loss of use of property). 

Panag at pages 58. (internal citations omitted). The Panag analysis was 

cited with approval by the court in Walker, at page 320, Bavand, at pages 

508-509; Frias, at pages 431-433 and Lyons, at page 786, ftn. 4. 

As noted in Frias, since "the CPA addresses 'injuries' rather than 

'damages,' quantifiable monetary loss is not required" in a CPA claim for 

violation of the DTA, citing Panag, at page 58. Frias, at page 431. 

Comparing a DT A claim to an unlawful debt collection action, the Frias 

court noted: "[a] CPA plaintiff can establish injury based on unlawful debt 

collection practices even where there is no dispute as to the validity of the 

underlying debt. [citing Panag at 55-56, & n. 13.] Where a business 

demands payment not lawfully due, the consumer can claim injury for 

expenses he or she incurred in responding, even if the consumer did not 

remit the payment demanded. . . . The injury element can be met even 

where the injury alleged is both minimal and temporary." Frias, at page 
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431. Accordingly, Mr. Selkowitz can establish a claim for injury and 

damage for Respondents' violations of the DT A, even without challenging 

the underlying debt. Such claims could include threatened loss of title, 

impact on credit and legal fees. Frias, at page 432. 

Thus, "investigation expenses and other costs" establish injury and 

are compensable under a CPA claim. Panag at page 62. Other injuries 

may include injury to financial reputation or professional goodwill. 

Physicians Insurance Exchange & Association v. Fisons, Corp., 122 

Wn.2d 299, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993), citing to Nordstrom, Inc, v. 

Tampourlos, 107 Wn.2d 735, 733 P.2d 208 (1987), Mason v. Mortgage 

America, Inc., 114 Wn.2d 842, 792 P.2d 142 (1990), and Rasor v. Retail 

Credit Co., 87 Wn.2d 516, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976) (holding that injury to 

one's credit reputation constitutes injury). 

In deposition, Mr. Selkowitz identified stress and loss of 

creditworthiness as specific issues of injury as a direct and proximate 

result of Respondents' misconduct. CP 2059-2092 (Selkowitz deposition, 

page 59, line 8 through page 63, line 11; page 63, line 12 through page 67, 

line13; page 73, line 24 through page 75, line 21; page 92, line 24 through 

page 93, line 5; and page 94, lines 12-23). While the Frias court excluded 

personal injuries such as "mental distress, embarrassment, and 

inconvenience" from a CPA claim, citing Panag, the Lyons court appears 
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to approve recovery of emotional distress if the complainant is able to bear 

a high burden of proof required to establish the claim. Frias, at page 431; 

Lyons, at page 792-793. But, that is an issue of fact that should have 

mitigated against the trial court's grant of summary judgment. 

In addition to his claims for declaratory relief and injunctive relief, 

Mr. Selkowitz has clearly articulated injury as a direct and proximate 

result of Respondents' misconduct: 

17. Many have the wrong impression that homeowners 
like me rather pay the legal fees to fight foreclosure than to pay the 
mortgage. The reality is that I couldn't, as a lay person, obtain any 
information from these defendants to solve the small delinquency I 
had at the time and I had to get an attorney to save my home even 
though I couldn't afford one. When I received the NOD in 2010, the 
arrears were about $15,000. In the time that it has taken for this case 
to make it through the court system, from the superior court, federal 
district court, supreme court and back to the superior court, I no 
longer receive monthly statements and I have no idea what the 
outstanding balance is now, but the arrears must have grown in excess 
of $100,000. Of course, if I had received accurate information about 
who owns my loan, which, according to my Note should be the same 
person or company who holds my Note, I could contact them directly 
and I could have asked them to work with me to resolve the arrears. 
Even if they were not going to modify the loan, I could have 
requested a short sale or deed in lieu, and be on my way with a 
financial fresh start. Instead, because of the manipulations and 
misinformation of the Defendants, I had to start the lawsuit to get my 
questions answered and I still don't have all the answers necessary to 
resolve my mortgage loan. 

18. Not having access to the owner of my loan makes it 
extremely difficult, if not impossible, to have a meaningful 
opportunity to resolve the mortgage arrears in whatever fashion that 
would mitigate the losses for me as well as the owner. I am sure they 
want for me to resume payments and not lose their collateral on a 
foreclosure or fire sale. Keeping my home and allowing me to 
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resume payments is a win-win situation for me and the owner of my 
loan. However, this litigation has served to polarize, rather than draw 
near, the essential parties to resolve the dispute which are the owner 
of my loan and I as the borrower. 

19. I have spent a lot of time in my quest of getting to the 
real stakeholder. Before I met my attorney, I was being haunted with 
questions that resulted in all the documents that the Defendants sent 
to me and recorded in the public records. I tried to research on my 
own and spent approximately 20 hours doing so without any success. 

20. In the beginning, I did see a psychologist/therapist for 
my symptoms including obsessive thoughts and constant stress as a 
result of loss of my business and the journey I've undertaken to 
challenge the Defendants. This did not last long because I ran out of 
funds. I am however still having some of these symptoms including 
obsessive thoughts and worries, occasional loss of appetite and loss of 
sleep, occasional stomach upset, sudden bursts of anxiety. anger and 
outrage for no apparent reasons. 

21. Once I hired Richard Jones, I had to sit down, 
collected my thoughts and made notes to facilitate my discussion with 
him and that took approximately 5 hours. Thereafter, I have been 
talking and meeting with my attorney regularly and have been 
spending on the average 10 hours per month doing so. Outside of the 
conferences with my attorney, I continue to obsess over the subject 
matter. The foreclosure issue occupies my thought on a daily basis. 
The uncertainty of the status of my mortgage loan, which is the same 
as the fear of losing my home, is present in my consciousness all the 
times. While I don't know how to put a value on the time, over the 
last two years I've spent working and worrying about the status of my 
home, I received $150.00 for every hour from my employer, WCI. I 
am now again self-employed and bill at the rate of$150.00 per hour. 

22. In addition to time spent, I have incurred costs 
including fuel cost, parking cost, purchase of office supplies, copying. 
faxing, and postage. While I was not keeping track of everything, I 
estimate that these have totaled approximately $75.00. Additionally, I 
have paid for the investigation into the representations made by the 
defendants and this cost is $3,500.00. Please see the Declarations of 
Tim Stephenson and B. Jay Patterson. My damages are not 
concluded; they are ongoing. 
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23. The most substantial injury that I have suffered as a 
consequence of the Defendants' action against me is the uncertainty 
that this situation has brought. Most people assume that because I 
continue to occupy my home, I have gained more than what I claim to 
be my losses. Nothing is further from the truth. It is terrible to live 
under the uncertainty of foreclosure. I don't want to put up a new 
picture on a wall, buy some new furniture, or put on some crown 
moldings to beautify my place because I never know how long I will 
be there. Even though I perform regular maintenance, it is difficult 
for me to decide, in the event of a needed major repair, to incur the 
expense because the place may not be mine at all at the end of this 
process. I am waiting for the other shoe to drop and I can assure the 
Court that there is no gain that is worth living simply to wait for the 
other shoe to drop. This uncertainty produces lots and lots of anxiety 
for me and the anxiety hits me unexpectedly but regularly in my daily 
life; it affects my ability to concentrate on my work or to enjoy the 
simple pleasures. 

24. This limbo status of my mortgage loan has affected 
my credit so severely that I don't know how to get out of it. The 
lawyers told me that my credit was ruined when I stopped making my 
mortgage payments and that the defendants did not contribute to the 
diminution of my credit. But that is not true at all. Yes, my credit 
tanked in the beginning. but if I could have resolved the dispute 
timely, say in 2010, 2011 or even 2012. Litton would not have been 
able to report me as delinquent and under foreclosure status after that 
time and I would have been able to rebuild my credit. Instead, I have 
been languishing in default and foreclosure for the past four years and 
now that the servicing right had been sold to Ocwen, there is another 
entity that is adversely affecting my credit by the continuing report of 
loan delinquency and default. 

25. In addition to my individual suffering, the 
Defendants' obvious and total lack of care for the formality of legal 
documents and legal process of nonjudicial foreclosure is evidenced 
by their robotic practices and documents. These practices hurt 
everybody and not just me the homeowner. For QLS, as a huge 
foreclosing trustee company to refer repeatedly in my case that the 
beneficiary as "Please consult the cover letter" and not providing the 
cover letter, is simply inexcusable and it makes you wonder how 
many homes have been lost to their shoddy practices. I am under the 
impression that this is a number game for Litton, QLS, and MERS 
where they foreclose enormous volume of homes hoping that very 
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few homeowners would catch their mistakes. And even when their 
mistakes are caught, the Defendants exhibit arrogance and self­
righteousness instead of offer remedies and solutions. This fact 
contributes to the outrage that I feel regularly about my situation. 

CP 1098-1101 (Emphasis added). 

In addition to the foregoing, Mr. Selkowitz has necessarily suffered 

injury through (1) the threat of losing all of his equity in his property 

without compensation; (2) a substantial reduction in his ability to sell the 

condo as a result of the recording of the Notice of Trustee's Sale; (3) 

damages to his credit as a result of Respondents' unlawful acts, (4) the 

inability to take full advantage of the protections of the federally mandated 

HAMP program and the FFA mediation process (RCW 61.24.163); and (5) 

consequential damages arising by the wrongful foreclosure action. As to 

this last item the expenditure of out-of-pocket expenses for postage, 

parking, and consulting an attorney are sufficient proof of an injury under 

Hangman Ridge. Panag at page 902. 8 

As noted above, injury to a person's business or property is 

"relatively expansive" and broadly construed; and in some instances, 

where "no monetary damages need be proven, and that non-quantifiable 

injuries, such as loss of goodwill would suffice for this element of the 

Hangman Ridge test." Frias, at page 431; Nordstrom, Inc. v. 

8 See also In re John Patrick Keahev, BAP No. WW-08-1151. 
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Tampourlos, 107 Wn.2d 735, 740, 733 P.2d 208 (1987); Klem. Lyons, at 

page 9, fin 4. The expenditure of out-of-pocket expenses for postage, 

parking, and consulting an attorney are sufficient proof of an injury under 

Hangman Ridge. Panag, at pages 59-65. Here, Mr. Selkowitz had to 

repeatedly take time off from work at a loss of wages and incurred travel 

expenses to consult with an attorney to dispel uncertainty regarding the 

ownership of his Note. CP 1090-1102. Such damages have been recently 

found to be compensable under Washington law. See Lyons and In re 

Meyer, 506 B.R. 533 (2014). 

All of the injuries and damages alleged by Mr. Selkowitz were the 

direct and proximate cause of Respondents' misconduct, including QLS', 

and viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving 

party, all five elements for a private cause of action under the CPA have 

been met. 

K. Slander of Title. 

QLS, at the insistence of Litton and relying on unverified 

representations by MERS and Litton, recorded its Notice of Trustee's Sale 

without the legal authority to do so, thus defaming Mr. Selkowitz's title to 

his property. 
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Under Washington law, a claim for slander of title requires the 

proponent to establish, by a preponderance of the evidence, the following 

elements: 

1. the statements concerning the proponent's title must be 
false; 

2. the statements must be maliciously published; 
3. the statements must be spoken with reference to some 

pending sale or related transaction concerning the 
proponent's property; 

4. the proponent must suffer pecuniary loss or injury as a 
result of the false statements; and 

5. the statements must be such as to defeat the proponent's 
title. 

Lee v. Maggard, 197 Wash. 380, 85 P.2d 654 (1938); Brown v. 

Safeway Stores, 94 Wn.2d 359, 617 P.2d 704 (1980); Rogvig v. Douglas, 

123 Wn.2d 854, 873 P.2d 492 (1994). 

The element of falsity is established by the recording of a 

document known to contain or relying on false declarations. Rogvig v. 

Douglas, supra. Litton retained the services of QLS to dispossess Mr. 

Selkowitz of his real property and instructed QLS to publicly record 

documents to this effect. See CP 471-472; CP 1770-1872 (Herbert-West 

deposition, page 17, lines 7-10, page 32, lines 12-18, page 33, lines 1-12.) 

Specifically, QLS relied on the information provided by Litton without 

investigation or verification that: (1) it was an "authorized agent for the 

Beneficiary" (CP 478), for which there was no evidence; (2) that it acted 
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on the basis of a power of attorney (CP 478), that does not exist; (3) that it 

was the "beneficiary under the note and authorized to foreclose" (CP 472), 

which it was not; (4) that it had declared Mr. Selkowitz to be in default 

(CP 472), which it had no authority to declare without owning and holding 

the Note; and (5) that it was the "actual holder" of the Note (CP 472), 

which was never established (CP 472). See also Declarations of Tim 

Stephenson (CP 1151-1517) and Jay Patterson (CP 2171-2415). Each of 

these statements by Litton was false and known to be false when uttered. 

Moreover, these statements were clearly intended to be relied upon by 

QLS in the initiation of a non-judicial foreclosure. 

The element of "malice" is established by false statements that are 

not made in good faith or otherwise based on a reasonable belief in the 

veracity of the statements. Rogvig v. Douglas, supra. The statements 

noted above were made in furtherance of a Trustee's sale and further 

served to diminish the value of Mr. Selkowitz's property, his ability to sell 

the condo, and were intended to defeat his title to the property. 

Here, Litton and its agent, QLS, knew or should have known that 

at the time QLS recorded its Notice of Trustee's Sales, that the 

prerequisites to the issuance of the filing of a Notice of Trustee's Sales 

had not been met. See RCW 61.24.030(7), RCW 61.24.030(8) and RCW 

61.24.040. Indeed, as noted above, QLS made no effort to verify the 

47 



misinformation it received from Litton. See CP 1770-1872 (Herbert-West 

deposition cited at length above.). 

Litton's statements to the contrary notwithstanding, the false and 

misleading representations noted above were made to support the 

initiation and prosecution of a non-judicial foreclosure sale of Mr. 

Selkowitz's home. In fact, it was on the basis of these false and 

misleading statements the QLS issued its Notice of Trustee's Sale, setting 

a sale date for Plaintiffs home for September 3, 2010. CP 480-482. The 

ultimate end of Respondents' misconduct would have resulted in a sale of 

Mr. Selkowitz's property from which Respondents would have derived 

financial benefit. Moreover, had this action not been initiated, Mr. 

Selkowitz would have in fact lost his home. Without Litton and QLS 

uttering these false and misleading statements noted above, the non­

judicial foreclosure process could not have been initiated or prosecuted. 

Accordingly, on the basis of the foregoing, there were genuine 

issues of material fact in dispute on Mr. Selkowitz's claim for slander of 

title before the trial court that mitigated against summary judgment. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Defending simultaneous foreclosure actions brought by different 

parties on the same Note and Deed of Trust is the ultimate evil against 

which no homeowner should have to contend. But failing to strictly 

48 



enforce the DT A, and excusing Respondents from their duty to prove their 

authority to act, the trial court put Mr. Selkowitz in exactly that position. 

The trial court's summary judgment was based on disputed factual 

claims. The trial court misread the requirements of the DTA and relevant 

case law and excused Respondents from their responsibility to clearly 

establish their factual and legal entitlement to summary judgment and to 

foreclose on Mr. Selkowitz's home. Reversal is the remedy. 

Finally, Appellants should be awarded taxable costs, expenses and 

reasonable attorney's fees on appeal, pursuant to RAP 18.1, based on the 

terms of the subject Deed of Trusts. 

REPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this ,,4::$? 71 of March. 
2015. 

GOODSTEIN LAW GROUP, PLLC 
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Dop .. , ......... ,,.., ............ ,... ...... ~-flfl Donot·.-·----·-·....._,. .. ~,.. ................. . lndall••••blld_,...-.._...., .............. ., .... ....,lnd•-ar• 
................ ...., ......... nala) .... _ .. ..,._.,,.,._, .. ..,..Gf . 
.......... .., ...... ~ ........ ...., ...................... 111111:h.t'or119 ... 0f .. •anlirlD.._ ........ ,,__. ...... 
YoulRlffllll,..,Mlll•tllCllrlll•.dllll.._tD._ ,... •• _..arp;ab11lanll•u-..sCru.. 
......... ._......,..., . ...,.. ... ~_..,_..., ..... ._.__ ... lllll•w ........... ,.......,.,., .. ,.. ........... " ......... ,..._. ...... ... 
dllllUI. WGll ..,--. ......... (lt•-..>--....... OCllllllr ...... allll!n 111-...., .... 
,._.,.. ........... ,._..._..._._.. • .....,..., 1lantlbWlilPa ... ._...., ..,,. ......... ....,. ·' 

You11111r .... D111.._itaf,._,.. ......... kl ltkdvllllll ....... 111' ...... 
I 'J ... Gi'J-- . 

...... , •• -~ ...... ·iiliJi·tif-.. .......... -.-,.. .. . ..... cJCNiilc.iiiWb.r' . . .. . . . . .· . . . .... . 
Tiila....._,n• n ,......, lndWllamrati.,..ODlllm:t ... ,_,IDmlc aana-111._lP . ·· · .. · . . 

.. aanu.·..._u-
=-.~~._.. 

. ' ...... 
1. QEFNl.T'.j 

t~~~....,._ ...... a:=. -•*4•:l!DP.lnW.• .. •llzCc11..;... ..... o.ar 
Tnilt • t111-.·MAidDtii RiS. 2dlil11otOlbtlo. ... JCllX ... ...,._._.c11<1ta 
~ .... ~~Dlldd1MtWIDbll9 ................ ~. 

UNIT 4, ~G2-40F LAKEMONr NDGE.AeotlXMNIUMRECORDED ·~ 1210F 
CO~PAGES SnR>UliH 14.ACCORDIG'IO 'IHEIECl..ARA110N11 IEREUF, RECCRE> 

.., . 

CPtt,Q~~136 
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CP-00113~ 
UNDER ICING COUNTY RECOIUNG NUl&R 9D1407'32 AND NlY AMENM:NTS lffERETO: srruAlE 
IN TtE a1Y OF BEU.ellE, COllA\'.(1; KING. STATE-OF VMSHINGTON. 

TllX,... ND. 4138ID-0480 

Ca1111C111y lcnown • '817 SOUllEAST COUGAR MOUNrAIN WAY, BEU.EVUi, W\ 98008 

. 
2, IIA.,,,.,. q: QEFAULTANQ rrepjQACCQlMOFMIOlJNTllARBEAR& . . .. 
'thep.-tblnltillt andlr·llld Dead af1Mt .... lhatyo1i 0tpr......,..ln..._•lndtraulilr 
•falcMlivl8Wftl. 

F ... tc>lllllll9the 1tlll.iZ008 ISll••• dprfndpml_..,lrllWltMlllM....,_,,._1111. ._...wllh .. .....-.~~-.deilquft......--. ......... cr11111111Ma,tr..,. Towt: 

Plra•• Fan ~ II P9)1Mllll llanlllly Pa,wnm T• ,.,._. 
. 11/112001 4'l3t2010 8 $1,&M.71 •• .., 

·1.-ct,..: 
Fan 
11IUZOGI 

ta..a..,. 

.. 
.. ...,.,...,...._,a.._.,n: -
. ElaDW~ . 

s. QIHERQWREI, CQIDANQflff• 

No. 
a. 
I>.. 
c. 
cl. 
L 
t 
g. 

I 

tl,118.G9 

$1,678.Cl(t 

AmDn 
1128.0D 

'50.GO 
$50.00 
to.OD ..,.., 
IDJID 
!MO 

..., . 
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CP-001138· 
UNTL SUCH 11U~AS A ftOTICE OF num:E'8 BALE IS RECORDED.~ ES'TllATED TOTAi.AMOUNT 
NECSSSARV TO Rl!INSTATE YOUtNoTE AND DEB> OF 'IRUS1' IS1HE8Ull OF PARAGRAPHS 2/ltMJ 3 
IN 1HEAMOUNT OF lq,t ..... PLUS JH'I MON'M.Y PAYEn'I. LATE CHRJE8, ~IEN!FICIARY 
cans \4IHCH MVE BECOME DUE 81NCE1HEDA1E OF 'nlS NOTICE OFllEFAU:,T. Afft/ MWdlfa* 
not ~~dmamrllllloaaurlllll'lwdlltdthllllDlce~ .-be,.O...S_,GldlrtodlOt 
nlfn&' MF . . . 
. . 

•.. .,..__. .. -..." .. u._..,, .... ...., ..adllllll!ld«llllllld• ...._.., .. Bin•••· .,.... ............... ........ 
1Wt1t1trmn~-- ....... tD; 
Aimec..aCU.-.... 
Qfo ~Lmn .... COip. d 
WlllhlllgtOn 
2141 .. ,..... 
.s.n D11go. CA 12101 

811MM6-7711 

f)Qftdllfll(I ....... I dlldalhw9*fllln•Per..,...DwMn dlll, ......... tD .. llltl thl Nabl 
andDeedflTnllf lllb8._Nalal d1"nlllile•a.1t,..ded. wacanutan-* .,._.._,. . . 
s. mmmftKiF' Of ReF&1r1: 

.. FallntaOU19•tllpllddllMllwlblntlllrty-dlwdlltdllllllllllOdllllnallae, Cl',....,. • 

..-.w111111thlllr...,.arladllldp•DMl11Mc1..._,, ..... llldta.....,..,~,,.1n1 
piM••.,. ~· Nalcld8'11. n 111119" p1ap911r .......... ...,taelClld 1t,mlc111C11Gn •• c1111a net 
lell ttlft OM-h&llehd...., ...,. ....... d--dlhllnaliae. 

b. 1be lllllc::td .. NCllldllian. --.11111..s p.M iilon de lalD d .... wlbelD (I) ll'aw .... COlll .m-...s (ll) ...... c111mramc1 acMr111111e.,.a.'I papmtrw.._ 
c. ..... llllldlg aM1MIWldzlilll1 de NalOltd,.,.,._.. 8lle, JUUtnlJ llinlllltt1'9cllad dtrult. 
---... dllault ....... -. ... Cl'IMifDllt ...... (11th)-bllbell9Tnlllae'1 .. cllhe 
prapertr•fdllDUllon. 

a. lbe.__ .... d .. gta*9'a lftPlllY bl/t.tnme• be lb cllplvathe ..... orhlll 
IUOClll,,-'8 lnlll8lltmd al111CJ1e-hald bf~ llDIJ8hCI' lllder9*ncllllielr.....allltl9.....,.~ ...... 
e. tOQ9 EMlKlt . 
Yau .. ......,,. rdllldthll .. b«l8-y ,_ elaal8dl0 ... 118tl19loml ._..laMln, nl tm dealnd 
lheer11119pdnoipal..._dS808.S00.00, ... 9lllCll'UldCXllla.lla1r' 0 q dalemd ..... 
NOTWmtSTANDOG MID ACCl"PPA110N, YOU HAVE 1H! RIGHT TO R!lirm1'ETIE LCW4 BY 
PAYING 'rtE DS.NU:NTPAYIEN1'8, LATE CHMAES. COSTS /!MD Fl!ESON OR BEFORE THE 
ELEVEN1H (111H) DAY BEFCRE n£ D\TE OF 1tE nu.n:E'SSALE WHICH MAYBE SET BY A HOllCE 
OF1'RU81EE'8 ~ AU.M EXPLMED .. PARAGRAPHI o4 ~ SABOYE. • 

1. RgQQUR1Emqums; 
Thi glW1D' or Sf1IUDt111ar In llDrlet .. 19C011191Dfle eotn pcn&a1tto RCWl1.24.130 fD canlalt .. 
lilleplcl defllul an eny props~ 

..., 
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CP-00113!r 
a. 

U\lw.,ou naa[Yllll .. wllt*130 •*'llOIMrW'*nolice llwt~..,_the...., afthe debtor 
.., partan ............ -. .. dlbtflwld. l,au.._ ....... .,.hnlMCllvlllg 
11111 ~ • dbwl ............ 1Clf9'tcllllln lllllJOU•DllPJ'<f'thl Vllllc::llbL lfygu ..... INI 
o11ca rn WlllllO--. .,.,. ... l9ClllviG 1111tna1ae. 1111 a11ae w1 pravldlt~,_. ........ lddl9I ~ 
the--~. l....,tam .. CU'MltcndlDr. n. nalice 9.,11111mpttoaallllladlbt. ..,.mnr 
ilm11i111611 cMlflled •be UMdt:rthll japala. 

TllSIS AN A'fTW'TTO CQU.ECt A DEBT AMJNlf INFORMA110N OITAt8) 'WIJ.. 9E USED FOR 
lHAT PURPOSE. • 

. 
' 

..,. 

CP-001139 
000254 

. 



APPENDIX "C" 



( 

Qmllly Loan 8ervlat Corp. of WaahlnglOn 
· 2141 8lh Averue 
san orego.: CA 12101 

Electronically Reco~-0004 7 5 
20100620000866 
stMPLIFll.e 
Page 001 Cf 002 
mr.aot2010 02:38 
King County, WA 

Nrr 15.00 

TS# WA-1()-367884-SH 
APN:413880046004 
MERS MIN No.: 

Order# 100254807-WA-GSI 
I 

lnvat«No. 

Appointment of Succeasor Trustee 

NOTICE • taEBY GM!N bit QUAUTY LONI lllMCE CORPORATION OF WM .. ITON.. a 
CDIPOllllon farmed under ROW 81.24, ._ addtw II 2141 6lh AWIRUI 8in Diego, CA 8210111 hnby · 

appol1fed &uoc111ar TIUlf8e undar 118t oarf8ln Dead d TAAll dalad tOl3CtllGl8, ..__ by 1GMN "· 

8E&.KOWITZ , M UNllMRl&D MAN • Grarmrt In \\f1lah FRIT AMSUCAN Tn1.E INIURMce 
COMPANY wm nmned 11 Tnllllae, llORTGAGI ELICTRONIC. R&G18TRAnGN 8Y8TeM8, .. C .. M 
NOMINEE. FOR NEW CENTURY MORTGAGE CORPORATION, A CAU~ CORPoRATION A 

CORPORATION 11 Benellclary, and l80Clldad an 11ffmll. ...... A&dDc'a Fie No. IGOIUtHMlllfO a 
bad.< m and page xxx, Oftlolal Reoaftt9. Seid te111Pftll*\Y11-....d1n ICING Ccutty. w~ end 11 

. men pertfouf8tly~ In Mid o.ed Of TJUIL 

IN W~ WHEREOF, 118 Beneftolary, MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION 8Y8TEMS. INC .. 
IW heNlnto ut hie hand; I the &l1Cler9lgnad ts a OD1PD11dkin, ft has caUMd 118 oarporate name to be llgr'9CI 

and affixed........, by Ill duly aulhorlmd aftioafa. 

Pege1 

CP-000475 



~ ....... - CP-000476 .--

AppOll .. nent of Succeesor Trustee 
TS# WA-1o-367584-SH 
Page2 

oat11c1: MAY i 1· zotu 

~or.__ > 
County ti=.. , 

. . 
'f.4Y 1 J 2010 pet'tOnllly append Debra 1fmaD ot MORTGAGE El!CTRONIC 
AEGISTRA110N 8V8TEM8, INC., h carporallon thlt wcullld .. cfoGLlnllt. He'She llCllcncMiecfge lmWlllnO 
ffs cfool.INMMll blllhlr' ""*and wk.lntary IOI and hi herWle II authorfad to._. .. thla document. 

WfNll myhend and~ ...a heretoatn.d tlll8 dlyand )'lllr. 

~~. 
Nofar)'Publo In ~tr .. .-:*"' .... 
t.t/ Commltllon ~ /l.:S- ti 

Page 1 . 

CP-000476 
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TS#: WA·l0-357584-SB 
Loan#: 

DECLARATION OF OWNERSHIP 

CP-000478 

The undersi111ed Beneficiary, declares that it is the authorized Agent for the owner and actual 
holder of that certain promissory note or other obligation which ii secured by the following Deed 
of TIUSt, and hereby n=presents and declares u follows: 

1) I am an employee of Litton Loan Servicing LP and am duly authori7.ed to make this 
declaration on behalf of Utton Loan Servicing LP. 

2) The real property involved is commonly known as 6617 Southeast Cougar Mountain 
Way 
Bellevue, WA 98006. 

3) Litton Loan Servicing LP is the actual holder of the Promissory Note dated 10/31/2006, 
in the principal amount of $309,600.00, recorded in KING County under Auditorli File 
No. 20061101000910. The Note is seeured by a Deed ofTrust encumbering the 
afomncmtioned real property . 

. 4) The Note has not been assigned or transferred to any other person or entity. 

I dcclme under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State ofWaahington. that the 
· is true and correct, and that this declaration was executed this :J.. 5: day of 

20.19_. at U,11 s:lln , --r:~4I 

2'!et-1{WJo 

Loan ~Apnl for Bmcficiary 

~& 

Its: psi\ Vg PresldeQt 

Utton LOan SefvJolng LP 
Attotf'llll ln Fact 

' 

CP-000478 


